THÈSES CANADIENNES SUR MICROFICHE



National Library of Canada Collections Development Branch

Canadian Theses on Microfiche Service

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada Direction du développement des collections

Service des thèses canadiennes sur microfiche

NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30. Please read the authorization forms which accompany this thesis.

AVIS

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30. Veuillez prendre connaissance des formules d'autorisation qui accompagnent cette thèse.

THIS DISSERTATION
HAS BEEN MICROFILMED
EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS RECUE





National Library of Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

CANADIAN THESES ON MICROFICHE THÈSES CANADIENNES SUR MICROFICHE

68164

| NAME OF AUTHOR/NOM DE L'AUTEUR Gordon Campbe | II Cole |
|---|---|
| TITLE OF THESIS/TITRE DE LA THÈSE The relationships be | etween alexithymia, the Minnesota |
| Multiphasic Persona | lity Inventory; and the recovery time |
| in pain patients | |
| UNIVERSITY/UNIVERSITÉ Simon Fraser Univers | sity |
| DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENTED/ GRADE POUR LEQUEL CETTE THÈSE FUT PRÉSENTÉE | Master of Arts |
| YEAR THIS DEGREE CONFERRED/ANNÉE D'OBTENTION DE CE GRADE_ | 1984 |
| NAME OF SUPERVISOR/NOM DU DIRECTEUR DE THÈSE | Dr. Paul Bakan |
| | |
| Permission is hereby granted to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF | L'autorisation est, par la présente, accordée à la BIBLIOTHÈ- |
| CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies | QUE NATIONALE DU CANADA de microfilmer cette thèse et |
| of the film. | de prêter ou de vendre des exemplaires du film. |
| The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the | L'auteur se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la |
| thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or other- | thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés |
| wise reproduced without the author's written permission. | ou autrement reproduits sans l'autorisation écrite de l'auteur. |
| Amust 4/hst | |
| DATED/DATE ALTIMATE SIGNED/SIGNE | |
| | |
| PERMANENT ADDRESS/RÉSIDENCE FIX | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |

THE RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN ALEXITHYMIA, THE MINNESOTA MULTIPHASIC PERSONALITY INVENTORY, AND RECOVERY TIME IN PAIN PATIENTS

by

Gordon Cole

B.A. (Honours), The University of Ottawa, 1982

THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF ARTS

in the Department

of

Psychology

Gordon Cole 1984
SINON FRASER UNIVERSITY
July 30, 1984

All rights reserved. This work may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means, without permission of the author.

APPROVAL

Name: Gordon Campbell Cole

Degree: Master of Arts

Title of thesis: The relationship between alexithymia,

the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality

Inventory, and recovery time in pain

patients

Examining Committee:

Chairperson: Dr. Roger Blackman

Dr. Paul Bakan

Dr. Robert G. Ley

Dr. James P. Schmidt
External Examiner
Psychology Department
Vancouver General Hospital
Vancouver, B.C.

Date Approved: Noly 30, 1984

PARTIAL COPYRIGHT LICENSE

I hereby grant fo Simon Fraser University the right to lend my thesis, project or extended essay (the title of which is shown below) to users of the Simon Fraser University Library, and to make partial or single copies only for such users or in response to a request from the library of any other university, or other educational institution, on its own behalf or for one of its users. I further agree that permission for multiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes may be granted by me or the Dean of Graduate Studies. It is understood that copying or publication of this work for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

Title of Thesis/Project/Extended Essay

The relationships between alexithymia, the Minnesota

Multiphasic Personality Inventory, and recovery time

in pain patients

Author: (signature)

Gordon Campbell Cole

(name)

(date)

ABSTRACT

The hypothesis that the presence of alexithymic characteristics (including an inability to express emotions verbally, a poor fantasy life, and an obsessional-concrete thinking style) in pain patients would be associated with longer recovery times, clinic treatment periods, and a greater number of doctors seen was tested in a sample of 49 (37 male, 12 female) pain patients from the Workers' Compensation Board. Higher scores on the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI) alexithymia scale were associated with longer recovery times and a greater number of different types of doctors seen. These findings were significant for females only. Length of clinic treatment correlated significantly with alexithymia for all subjects combined, and females alone, but not for males alone. For all subjects, alexithymia scores correlated significantly with the number of surgeries performed. Severity of injury did not correlate significantly with any of the recovery variables, and thus, alexithymia may be a better variable for predicting length of recovery from injuries than the severity of the injury. Significant correlations between alexithymia scores and MMPI validity and clinical scales add to the construct validity of the concept of alexithymia. Implications for treatment and further research are discussed.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| porovalii |
|--|
| bstract iii |
| ist of Tables |
| I. Introduction1 |
| The Concept of Alexithymia1 |
| Etiological Explanations3 |
| The Measurement of Alexithymia11 |
| - Hypotheses |
| II. Method |
| Subjects |
| Procedure |
| III. Results |
| Recovery variables and alexithymia |
| Other relationships of interest29 |
| Alexithymia and the MMPI Validity and Clinical Scales |
| Demographic variables and alexithymia |
| IV. Discussion |
| Wage Loss and alexithymia |
| Length of clinic treatment, number of doctors seen, number of surgeries performed, and alexithymia39 |
| Prevalence of alexithymia44 |
| Alexithymia and demographic variables45 |
| The MMPI and Alexithymia47 |
| 7. Conclusions |
| oforongo |

LIST OF TABLES

| TABLE | PAGE |
|-------|--|
| 1 | Correlations of all variables with the MMPI alexithymia scores |
| 2, . | Means and standard deviations 23 |
| 3 | Correlations of all variables with wage loss 24 |
| | Correlations between recovery variables, MMPI alexithymia scores, and the injury-assessment interval |
| 5 | Correlations between recovery variables, MMPI alexithymia scores, and injury severity 26 |
| 6 | Correlations between recovery variables, MMPI alexithymia scores, and K-scale scores |

I. Introduction

The Concept of Alexithysia

Alexithymia, a term which means "no words for emotions",
has been used to describe a cognitive-affective disturbance
which has been observed in patients with psychosomatic disorders
(Sifneos, 1973), hypertension (Gage & Egan, 1984), somatoform
disorders (Plannery, 1977; Lesser, Ford, & Friedman, 1977;
Shipko, 1982), psychogenic pain disorders (Blumer & Heilbronn,
1982; Demers-Desrosiers, Cohen, Catchlove, & Ramasay, 1983;
Mendelson, 1982), violent offenders (Keltikangas-Jarvinen,
1982), patients with post-traumatic stress disorder (Shipko,
Alveras, & Noviellos, 1983), and in general, a large number of
patients who seek help from mental health professionals (Lesser
\$ Lesser, 1983).

As well as exhibiting an inability to describe feelings with words and a poor vocabulary with which to describe their moods, people with alexithymic characteristics tend to complain at length of physical symptoms without reference to their emotional experience. They tend to be preoccupied with trivial environmental details to the exclusion of thoughts concerning feelings and instinctual drives, a characteristic Marty and De Muzan (1963) called pensee operatoire. They exhibit an inability

to fantasize and to recall their dreams (Nemiah, 1975), and an obsessional-concrete thinking style (Apfel & Sifneos, 1979).

They also appear to be unhypnotizable (Frankel, Apfel-Savitz, Nemiah, & Sifneos, 1977), and tend to use the defence mechanisms of repression and denial (Sifneos, Apfel-Savitz, & Frankel, 1977), eliciting negative counter-transferences from psychotherapists who report finding them 'dull and boring' (Taylor, 1977). Krystal (1982) suggests that alexithymia is "possibly the most important single factor diminishing the success of psychoanalysis and psychodynamic psychotherapy" (p.375).

As well as exhibiting difficulty in recognizing and describing their feelings, alexithymics have difficulty in discriminating between emotional states and bodily sensations (Nemiah, Freyberger, & Sifneos, 1976). Shipko (1982) suggests that in a situation that calls for awareness of feelings, the alexithymic remains stimulus bound, and unaware of the tension escalating in his/her body. If this is a chronic way of responding to such situations, physical symptoms may result in people with vulnerable peripheral organs. While some may withdraw from the situation, others may take impulsive action in an attempt to alleviate the resulting inner turmoil. Krystal (1979) suggests that alexithymics have an impaired capacity for empathy given their difficulty in recognizing their own feelings let alone those of others.

Alexithymia is not necessarily an all or none phenomenon given that all people, at times, have difficulty expressing their emotions, discriminating between their emotional states and bodily sensations, and other alexithymic characteristics.

With some, though, this appears to be an enduring trait.

Freyberger (1977) has suggested that a distinction can be made between two types of alexithymia: primary and secondary. Primary alexithymia is thought to be due to genetic or neurophysiological deficits, while secondary alexithymia is thought to be a functional, reversible condition caused by psychodynamic, developmental, or sociocultural factors.

Etiological Explanations

Attempts have been made to explain the etiology of alexithymia from the following theoretical viewpoints:

neuropsychological (Buchanan, Waterhouse, & West, 1980; Hoppe & Bogen, 1977; Kaplan & Wogan, 1976/77; Nemiah, 1975; Shipko, 1982), psychodynamic (Krystal, 1979, 1982; McDougal, 1974, 1982, and Taylor, 1977), social-learning (Borens, Grosse-Schultz, Jaensch, & Kortemme, 1977), developmental (Nemiah, 1977), and genetic (Heiberg & Heiberg, 1977, 1978). While each explanation may be equally tenable, alexithymia most likely results from the interaction of a number of factors (Nemiah, 1977).

Hemiah (1977) reviewed these models and suggested that alexithymia and its possible psychosomatic influences is best

explained by one of three models: the denial, the deficit, or the structural model.

The Denial Model. This model suggests that alexithymia is a psychological defense associated with the inhibition of affect and fantasy. Theoretically, a reversal of the defensive process and a subsequent disappearance of alexithymic characteristics and somatic symptoms is possible.

The Deficit Model. Alexithymic characteristics are thought to be due to irreversible ego deficits: "in particular an absence of the capacity for the formation of fantasy, and for experiencing feelings" (Nemiah, 1977, p.201).

The Structural Model. With this model Nemiah (1977) proposes that alexithymia results from an absence of, or a deficit in, the pathways between structures underlying affect, or from an absence or deficit in the neuronal centers underlying affect, with disturbances possibly:

(1) in the pathway between the center for psychic elaboration and that for consciousness; (2) in the pathway between the center underlying emotion and that for psychic elaboration; or (3) in the center for psychic elaboration itself. The first and third possibilities are for theoretical interest only, since our current knowledge of neuroanatomy gives us no clues as to the anatomical structures that underlie repression or the ego functions involved in psychic elaboration. (p. 200)

The deficit and structural models account for primary alexithymia whereas the denial model accounts for secondary alexithymia.

The structural model has received some support from studies associating alexithysia with a right hemisphere deficit or an

inhibition or a defect of the corpus callosum. Buchanan et al., (1980) suggest that there are similarities between patients with right hemisphere lesions and alexithymics. Similarities in the cognitive style and affective expression between alexithymic patients and patients having neuroanatomical lesions of the corpus callosum have led Hoppe and Bogen (1977) to hypothesize that alexithymia may be due to a functional disconnection of the cerebral hemispheres by the inhibition of the corpus callosum.

Hemisphericity and lateralization research gives evidence of a relationship between right hemisphere functioning, alexithymic characteristics, and some cognitive abilities thought to be impaired in alexithymia. This information may be useful in the conceptualization of all three models of alexithymia.

Hemisphericity is a term coined by Bogen (1969) referring to the tendency of individuals to rely on either the left or right cerebral hemisphere in their overall psychological functioning. Bakan (1969) hypothesized that the direction of the conjugate lateral eye movements (CLEM) that people characteristically make when thinking about a question is indicative of relatively greater activation of one hemisphere over the other. A predominance of CLEMs in one direction is thought to indicate hemisphericity. In Bakan's typology (Bakan, 1971), people showing a predominance of left CLEMs are called "left movers", while people showing a predominance of right CLEMs are called "right movers". Bakan (1969) found that left

movers were more hypnotically susceptible than right movers and suggested that CLEM, direction may account for some individual differences in cognition and personality.

A significant positive correlation between CLEM direction and alexithymia was found by Cole (1982). The Schalling Sifneos Personality Scale was used to measure the alexithymic characteristics of a sample of normal university students. It was found that left moving females reported significantly more alexithymic characteristics than right moving females. This relationship also existed for males, though it was not significant. This finding gives some evidence for a link between right hemisphere functioning and alexithymic characteristics with females.

some of the cognitive abilities and psychological processes thought to be impaired in alexithymics have been associated with right hemisphere functioning. Left movers, when compared to right movers, have been found to: (1) use the defense mechanisms of denial and repression more often (Gur & Gur, 1975); (2) be more hypnotically susceptible and have clearer imagery (Bakan, 1969); and (3) recall a greater number of dreams (Van Nuys, 1979-80). Given that alexithymics have been found to be unhypnotizable (Frankel of alexithymics have been found to be fantasize and recall their dreams (Nemiah, 1975), Cole's (1982) findings, indicating a relationship between right hemisphere functioning and alexithymia, seem to be contradictory. Although these abilities associated with right

hemisphere functioning may be found in normals, alexithymics may have a functional (i.e. an inhibition of cognitive functions due to right hemisphere overactivation) or structural impairment of the structures mediating them.

Tucker (1981) reviewed the literature on brain damage and emotional functioning and found consistent evidence of right hemisphere involvement in the comprehension and expression of emotion through voice inflection and in lateralization of facial expression. Weintraub and Mesulam (1983) found that patients with neurologic and neuropsychological signs consistent with right hemisphere dysfunction had difficulty conveying their feelings (although there was no evidence that they were unable to experience affect) and lacked the gestures and prosody that normally accompany speech.

These findings suggest the possible existence of a relationship between right hemisphere functioning, alexithymic characteristics, and some of the cognitive abilities thought to be impaired in alexithymics. More extensive studies of people with right hemisphere damage may reveal cognitive deficits that have been associated with alexithymia.

Research on the relationship between right hemisphere functioning and conversion and pain symptoms may have implications for the study of the neural pathways involved in the psychosomatic processes thought to result from alexithymia. Galin, Diamond, and Braff (1977) found a preponderance of left-sided physical symptoms in a group of patients with

unilateral conversion symptoms. This finding was significant for females only, and was confirmed by Ley (1980) in an archival study of hysterical patients treated between 1885 and 1937. Left sided pain symptoms were found to predominate in a number of different pain populations (primarily comprised of psychiatric patients) reviewed by Merskey and Watson (1979). This finding led them to hypothesize that the "right hemisphere may play a special role in producing pain, conversion symptoms, and disorders of emotional expression" (p.278). Evidence contrary to Merskey and Watson's findings comes from Hall, Hayward and Chapman (1981) who found that pain was predominantly bilaterally distributed.

The majority of these studies suggest that the right hemisphere may play a role in the development and maintenance of physical symptoms. Alexithymia has also been found to be involved in the development and maintenance of physical symptoms.

Alexithymia, Psychomaintenance, and Pain

Psychomaintenance is defined as the prolongation of a patient's recovery from an illness due to psychological as opposed to strictly physical reasons (Dirks, 1978).

psychomaintenance of disease was done by Kleiger and Jones
(1980). They found that alexithymic chronic respiratory illness
patients had a higher rate, and longer duration, of

rehospitalization than non-alexithymic patients. They also found that these relationships existed independently of illness severity. Kleiger and Dirks (1980), in a study of chronic asthmatics, found that alexithymic patients, relative to non-alexithymic patients, were judged to have more severe illnesses, and that they had higher rates of rehospitalization. They also found that alexithymia was independent of an objective measure of illness severity. Dirks, Robinson, and Dirks (1981) showed that, in a large sample of asthmatic patients, alexithymia was associated with longer periods of hospitalization and higher rates of subsequent rehospitalization. Gage and Egan (1984) found that hypertensive alexithymic patients had more severe symptoms than non-alexithymic hypertensives, and suggested that alexithymia may play a role in the etiology of hypertension.

psychomaintenance and given that pain is the reason why medical help is most often sought (Fromm, 1984), the role that alexithymia may play in prolonging pain warrants investigation. Few studies to date have been done on the relationship between pain and alexithymia. Flannery (1978) found that undiagnosed pain was the most frequent presenting complaint in a group of patients referred for psychological assessment and showing alexithymic traits. Demers-Desrosiers et al., (1983) found that, in a group of 30 pain patients, as the severity of alexithymia increased, the degree of disorganization of symbolic activity

increased. Mendelson (1982), using the MMPI alexithymia scale to measure alexithymia, found that alexithymic chronic pain patients had a significantly longer history of pain than non-alexithymic chronic pain patients. He did not, however, find any differences in the groups with respect to measures of pain relief.

An important study for the link between hemispheric functioning and pain perception, and relief from pain, comes from Kaplan and Wogan (1982). They used EEG alpha power ratios to measure cerebral activation of normal subjects with experimentally induced pain. They found that left hemisphere activation was associated with a reported increase in painful sensation when pain was induced, while right hemisphere activation was associated with a decrease in reported pain. They suggested that a lack of right hemisphere processing of painful stimulation may play a causal role in the alexithymic's development of psychosomatic disorders. While their study indicates left hemisphere involvement in the perception of pain and right hemisphere involvement in relief from pain, they did not measure the alexithymic characteristics of their subjects nor did they use alexithymic pain patients.

The research reviewed on brain functioning and alexithymia tends to support a link between right hemisphere dysfunction, alexithymia, and pain symptoms. Given that pain relief appears to be associated with right hemisphere activation (Kaplan & Wogan, 1982), alexithymics may experience less pain relief than

non-alexithymics and, as a result, they may seek out, or elicit, more treatment by the medical profession. The role that alexithymia may play in the prolongation of pain warrants investigation.

Given the importance of recovery from pain, the purpose of the present study was to see if alexithymia was related to recovery variables in a sample of pain patients. Specifically, it was hypothesized that alexithymic characteristics would be associated with longer recovery and clinic treatment periods, and with a greater number of different types of doctors consulted.

The Measurement of Alexithymia

The most widely used measure of alexithymia is the Beth Israel Psychosomatic Questionnaire (BIQ) (Apfel & Sifneos, 1979), a 17 item forced-choice questionnaire which is completed by an interviewer who is trained in the assessment of alexithymic characteristics. Included in this measure are 8 questions based on defined aspects of alexithymia:

does the patient:

- (1) describe endless details rather than feelings;
- (2) use appropriate words to describe emotions;
- (6) have a rich fantasy life:
- (7) use action to express emotions;
- (12) tend to describe circumstances surrounding an event rather than feelings;
- (13) have difficulty communicating;
- (16) Is the thought content associated more with external events than with fantasy or emotion? (Apfel and Sifneos, 1979, pp.184-185)

The inter-rater reliability of this measure is between .76 and

.78 according to Kleiger and Dirks (1980) and .85 according to Apfel and Sifneos (1979). Lolas, de la Parra, Aronson, and Collins (1980), Schneider (1977), and Wolff (1977) all report that the scoring of the BIQ is highly dependent on the experience, bias, and style of the interviewer. Taylor, Doody, and Newman (1981) found unacceptable inter-rater reliability with the BIQ in a study of patients with inflammatory bowel disease.

Another widely used measure of alexithymia is the Shalling-Sifneos Personality Scale (SSPS). The self-report nature of the SSPS was thought to eliminate the interactional problems associated with the BIQ. The SSPS is a 20 item scale, with the items rated by the subject on a five point scale ranging from "Does not apply at all" to "Applies completely". Some samples of items are: "I find it hard to find the right words for my feelings; One might say that I lack imagination; I prefer taking action rather than thinking" (Apfel and Sifneos, 1979, p. 189). The questionnaire also contains a checklist of psychosomatic, addictive, and psychotic disorders that the test taker may have. Apfel and Sifneos (1979) stated that, with the SSPS, results are erratic and do not correlate with observers assessments (using the BIQ) of some people. Kleiger and Jones (1980) also found no correlation between BIQ and SSPS scores. Blanchard et al., (1981) found that SSPS scores correlated with a psychosomatic checklist and that the SSPS was generally orthogonal to other measures such as the State-Trait Anxiety

Inventory, the Beck Depression Inventory, the Rathus
Assertiveness Scale, and a questionnaire designed to detect
evidence of Briquet's syndrome. They found that, in a sample of
230 undergraduates, SSPS scores were normally distributed for
both sexes and that 8.2% of males and 1.8% of females were in
the clinically alexithymic range. They conclude that "Sifneos
has developed a useful screening measure for alexithymia which
can identify alexithymic individuals in a general population"
(p.70). Shipko and Noviello (1984) tested the reliability of the
SSPS by administering it to a group of 46 students twice, at a
two week interval, and found that the test-retest reliability
coefficient was .76.

An alexithymia measure which has been found to predict BIQ alexithymia scores with 82% accuracy and which correlates with the BIQ significantly (r=.66, p<.001) is a 22 item MMPI subscale developed by Kleiger and Kinsman (1980). They used a sample of 112 hospitalized patients with respiratory diseases which was divided into three groups, matched for age, sex, and disease type. They were rated independently on the BIQ by three judges, with the BIQ score being the average of these three ratings. They then used the MMPI responses of the subjects (\$\subsetext{SS}\$) to form a pool of candidate MMPI items to measure alexithymia. For each MMPI item, \$\subsetext{SS}\$ were grouped according to their true-false responses. Scores of \$\subsetext{SS}\$ responding true were compared with those responding false by t-tests. The candidate MMPI items were those for which the two response groups differed on BIQ alexithymia

scores at the .25 level of probability. The same procedure was followed for the second group. Then, all Ss were combined and the same comparisons were made. MMPI items were selected if they differed on average BIQ alexithymia scores between true and false responders at the .05 level of probability. The items that ended up comprising the MMPI Alexithymia scale, and their scoring direction are: True; 72, 131, 198, and 262; False: 38, 39, 87, 149, 181, 204, 221, 238, 239, 248, 283, 308, 322, 340, 400, 430, 438, 474. The relationship between the new MMPI alexithymia scale and the average BIQ score was evaluated, using the same sample the scale was derived on, to provide an index of validity. With a score of 6 on the BIQ used as the cut-off point. for alexithymia the following regression equation, was constructed for the purpose of establishing a corresponding cut-off point on the MMPI alexithymia scale: BIQ score=.3405 (MMPI score) + 1.3675. With this equation a score of 14 on the MMPI scale yields a BIQ score of 6.00 and yields an 82% hit rate for predicting BIQ scores. They found the test-retest reliability of this new measure to be fairly high (r=.84, p<.001).

Kleiger and Kinsman (1980) suggest that, with the MMPI alexithymia scale responses:

...one is struck by the degree of global denial reflected in the response pattern of the alexithymic subjects. This denial of impulses and socially acceptable limitations appears to be a manifestation of the alexithymic characteristic called "pseudo-normality". Impoverished fantasy is reflected in at least one of the scale items (item 198), and denial of affect appears to be represented on at least two

items (items 131 and 248). Finally, there are two items (items 72 and 474) which clearly reflect the alexithymic subject's preoccupation with somatic cues -possibly affect equivalents. (pp.22-23)

In a study of the symbolic function (the ability to symbolize) of 30 pain patients, Demers-Desrosiers et al., (1983) found that MMPI alexithymia scores did not correlate with BIQ scores, while the archetypal test (a measure of symbolic function) did. They suggested that the MMPI scale does not measure the capacity to fantasize, a major feature of alexithymia.

Federman and Mohns (1984) did a validity study of the MMPI scale using migraine patients and found that BIO scores and MMPI scores were negatively correlated (though the correlation was not significant). They suggest that their findings question the validity of the MMPI scale with respect to its use with other patient populations than the one used to derive the scale. In their study, though, they had only 16 percent of their patients in the alexithymic range compared to Kleiger and Kinsman's (1980) 72.3 percent. Thus, their criticisms may be invalid given the differences in the proportion of alexithymics found in the samples used in the two studies.

Other methods used to quantify alexithymic characteristics include the use of projective tests (Defourny, Hubin & Luminet, 1976/77) and verbal content analysis (Von Rad & Lolas, 1982).

The MMPI is the most widely used psychometric instrument in studies on pain (Strassberg, Reidmherr, Ward, Russell, & Cole, 1981). See Dahlstrom, Welsh, and Dahlstrom (1972) for information on the construction of the MMPI, its reliability, and its validity. The MMPI contains 566 binary choice statements relating to various aspects of mood, behavior, self-concept, and personal preferences. Individual questions have been used to develop standardized clinical subscales to provide information on specific dimensions of psychological functioning: hypochondriasis (Hs), depression (D), hysteria (Hy), psychopathic deviance (Pd), paranoia (Pa), psychasthenia (Pt), schizophrenia (Sc), mania (Ma), social introversion (Si), and ego strength (Es). Three validity subscales (L, P, K) were developed to measure evasive, atypical, and defensive response sets. The MMPI has been used in : (1) descriptive studies where the profile of the average pain patient (Gentry, Shoers, & Thomas, 1974) or the average workers' compensation case (Repko & Cooper, 1983) is examined; (2) diagnostic studies where it is used to discriminate patients whose pain is functional in nature from patients whose pain has an organic etiology (Sternbach, Wolf, Murphy, & Akeson, 1973(a); 1973(b)); (3) outcome studies where it is used to predict response to various types of treatment (Blumetti & Modesti, 1976). Most studies using the MMPI with pain patients have reported that elevations on the

Hysteria) are associated with poor response to treatment, while lower scores on the neurotic triad are associated with better outcome. A problem with these studies is that they rely on the use of one measure of outcome: a unidimensional rating by the attending physician of global response to treatment.

Hypotheses

The purpose of this study was to determine whether or not alexithymia, as measured by Kleiger and Kinsman's (1980) MMPI alexithymia scale, in pain patients is associated with: (1) longer recovery from pain; (2) longer periods of clinic treatment; (3) a greater number of different types of doctors seen. As well, from an exploratory perspective, the relationships between alexithymia and the validity and clinical scales of the MMPI were examined.

II. Method .

Subjects

The subjects were 49 workers' compensation claimants randomly chosen from a sample of claimants who had been referred to the psychology department at the Workers' Compensation Board (WCB) in Richmond, B.C. for assessment of their psychological functioning within a year of the date of their injury. There were 37 males with an average age of 38.08 years (standard deviation=11.26), and 12 females with an average age of 40.25 years (standard deviation=12.18). The average time between injury and assessment was 19.24 weeks for all subjects (standard deviation=10.13), 20.27 weeks for males (standard

deviation=11.16), and 16.08 weeks for females (standard, deviation=5.11). Twenty nine subjects (22 males, 7 females) had back injuries, 1 male and 1 female had both a neck and back injury, 7 (5 males, 2 females) had neck and shoulder injuries, 4 (all males) had head injuries, 4 (3 male, 1 female) had contusions, 1 female had tendonitis in her arm, 1 male had a fractured pelvis, and 1 male had a face injury. Thirty two percent of the males and 25% of the females were single. Fifty seven percent of the males and 67% of the females were married. Eight percent of both males and females were either separated or divorced.

Procedure

The data collection entailed a review of each claimant's psychology and claims file. The computerized MMPI protocol was contained in the psychology file, and each was scored for the alexithymia scale (see the section on the measurement of alexithymia), and the validity and clinical scale scores were recorded. Since some claimants (five in all) were given a short form of the MMPI, their alexithymia scores were prorated to make them equivalent to the score they would have obtained if all 22 items were given.

The claims files contained all the administrative and medical details of each claimant's claim. The information recorded included the claimant's age, sex, marital status, the location and severity of injury, the time interval between the injury and their assessment by a psychologist, the number of different types of doctors seen, whether surgery was performed, the amount of time spent in the WCB Clinic receiving treatment, and the amount of time spent on wage loss. The wage loss period was used as the measure of the length of time a subject took to recover from his/her injury since wage loss benefits are paid from the time of injury to the point at which the subject is deemed fit to return to work.

A) Severity of Trauma: (1) no trauma, (2) "routine" trauma, (3)

unusual, life threatening trauma.

- B) Whether the trauma affected a single body area or multiple areas.
- C) Whether hospitalization was required at the time of injury.
- D) Whether initial treatment was therapeutic or palliative in nature.
- E) Whether there was evidence of tissue damage.
- F) Whether there was a head injury.

The first criteria, severity of trauma, was rated on a three point scale with unusual life threatening trauma scored as three, routine trauma scored as two, and no trauma scored as one. The other criteria were scored as yes equals one and no equals zero. The severity index was calculated by summing the totals of these scores. Severity ratings were unavailable for three subjects, thus the results associated with severity are based on the ratings of 46 subjects.

6

III. Results

The results were evaluated by a study of the intercorrelations between all the variables. Two tailed tests of significance were calculated for all findings. A summary of the correlations between alexithymia, recovery variables, and MMPI scores is displayed on Table 1. See Table 2 for the means and standard deviations of all the variables. Table 3 summarizes the correlations between wage loss and all the other variables.

Table 4 summarizes the correlations between the injury-assessment interval, recovery variables, and alexithymia. Table 5 summarizes the correlations between injury severity, alexithymia, and recovery variables. Table 6 summarizes the correlations between K-scale scores, alexithymia, and recovery variables.

Prevalence of Alexithymia

of the 49 <u>Ss</u>, 17 (35%) had MMPI alexithymia scores of 14 or greater, indicating the presence of alexithymia. Of the 37 male <u>Ss</u>, 13 (35%) were clinically alexithymic, while 4 (33%) of the 12 females <u>Ss</u> were clinically alexithymic.

Table 1 CORRELATIONS OF ALL VARIABLES WITH THE MMPI ALEXITHYMIA SCORES

| VARIABLE | ALL SUBJECTS | MALES | FEMALES |
|---------------------|--------------|--------|---------------------------------------|
| ··· | · . | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |
| Age | .44*** | .49*** | .35 |
| Marital status | .47*** | .40** | .67** |
| No. of surgeries | .28** | .29* | .26 |
| Time in clinic | .29** | 04 | .63** |
| Wage loss | .28* | .18 | .57** |
| No. of doctors seen | .12 | 10 | .64** |
| Assess. interval | .14 | .16 | .08 |
| Severity | 05 | 11 | .28 |
| L | .52*** | | |
| F | 48*** | 40*** | 63** |
| K | .65*** | .69*** | .60** |
| Hs | .11, | .17 | 08 |
| D | 17 | 17 | 26 |
| Hy | .25* | .33** | 04 |
| Pd | 12 | 07 | 31 |
| Mf | 26* | 22 | 47 |
| Pa | 14 | 18 | 06 |
| Pt | 32** | 34** | 36 |
| Şc | 29** | 23 | 48 |
| Ma (| 30** | 25 | 51* |
| SI | 42*** | 43*** | 45 |
| Ego | .47*** | .48*** | .45 |

* .10 P > .05 ** P < .05 *** P < .01 **** P < .001

Table 2

MEANS AND STANDARD DEVIATIONS

| VARIABLE | ALL S | SUBJECTS | | MAI | LES | FEM | ALES |
|----------------|---------|----------|--------|---------|-----------|-------|-----------|
| | MEAN | STD. DEV | | MEAN | STD. DEV. | MEAN | STD. DEV. |
| Age | 38.61 | 11.40 | | 38.08 | 11.26 | 40.25 | 12.18 |
| Surgeries | .18 | .39 | | .19 | .40 | .17 | .39 |
| Time in clinic | 9.57 wl | ks 13.77 | | 8.49 | 8.65 | 12.92 | 23.78 |
| Wage loss | 41.83 w | ks 31.41 | | 45.14 | 32.30 | 31.67 | 27.27 |
| Doctors seen | 7.22 | 3.24 | | 7.27 | 3.25 | 7.08 | 3.37 |
| Assess. inter. | 19.24 | 10.13 | | 20.27 | 11.16 | 16.08 | 5.11 |
| Severity | 3.98 | 2.80 | | 4.22 | 3.14 | 3.25 | 1.05 |
| L | 54.98 | 8.57 | r vest | 55.62 | 9.04 | 53.00 | 6.91 |
| F | 59.71 | 11.77 | | 60.03 | 10.70 | 58.75 | 15.09 |
| К | 52.37 | 11.54 | | 53.11 | 11.54 | 50.08 | 11.72 |
| Hs | 71.04 | 14.37 | | 72.05 | 15.56 | 67.92 | 9.77 |
| D . | 70.57 | 14.25 | | , 71.84 | 15.43 | 66.66 | 9.21 |
| Ну | 68.20 | 10.82 | , | 68.89 | 11.98 | 66.08 | 5.92 |
| Pd | 62.12 | 15.13 | | 63.54 | 15.44 | 57.75 | 13.84 |
| Mf: · | 57.61 | 10.10 | | 60.08 | 8.84 | 50.00 | 10.32 |
| Pa | 59.16 | 12.44 | | 59.59 | 12.58 | 57.83 | 12.42 |
| Pt | 62.96 | 13.13 | | 64.38 | 13.84 | 58.58 | 9.89 |
| Sc | 67.71 | 16.42 | | 69.54 | 16.34 | 62.08 | 16.00 |
| Ma | 59.80 | 9.06 | | 60.70 | 9.20 | 57.00 | 8.36 |
| SI | 54.31 | 13.15 | | 54.86 | 13.61 | 52.58 | 11.99 |
| Ego | 44.98 | 11.36 | | 45.27 | 11.53 | 44.08 | 11.29 |
| Alexithymia | 11.71 | 2.77 | | 11.76 | 2.58 | 11.58 | 3.42 |

Table 3
CORRELATIONS OF ALL VARIABLES WITH WAGE LOSS

| VARIABLE | ALL SUBJECTS | /MALES | FEMALES |
|---------------------|--------------|-----------------|---------|
| Sex | .19 | | |
| Age | .25 | .24 | .36 |
| Marital status | .22 | .20 | .30 |
| No. of surgeries | .42*** | .34** | .76*** |
| Time in clinic | .33** | | 93*** |
| No. of doctors seen | .50**** | .43*** | .76*** |
| Assess. interval | .52**** | .50*** | .59** |
| Severity | 19 | 28 * | .25 |
| L | .02 | .02 | 13 |
| F | 17 | 15 | 28 |
| K | .30** | .28* | .32 |
| Hs | .07 | , .04 | .05 |
| D | .09 | .08 | 07 |
| Ну | .15 | .17 | 11 |
| Pd | 01 | 01 | 21 |
| Mf | 05 | ·13 | 20 |
| Pa | .13 | .17 | 07 |
| Pt | .05 | .06 | 21 |
| Sc | 09 | 08 | 31 |
| Ма | 05 | 01 | 43 |
| SI | 20 | 18 | 33 |
| Ego | 07 | .04 | .19 |
| Alexithymia ' | .28* | .18 | .57** |

^{* .10&}gt; P > .05 ** P < .05 *** P < .01 **** P < .001

Table 4

CORRELATIONS BETWEEN RECOVERY VARIABLES, MMPI ALEXITHYMIA SCORES, AND THE INJURY-ASSESSMENT INTERVAL

| VARIABLE | ALL SUBJECTS | MALES | FEMALES |
|---------------------|--------------|--------|---------|
| No. of surgeries | .32** | .27 | .77*** |
| Time in clinic | .21 | .31* | .35 |
| Wage loss . | .52*** | .50*** | .59** |
| No. of doctors seen | .26* | .28* | .22 |
| Severity | 24* | 28* | 17 |
| Alexithymia | .14 | .16 | .07 |
| | | | · |

* .10 P > .05 ** P < .05 *** P < .01 **** P < .001

Table 5

CORRELATIONS BETWEEN RECOVERY VARIABLES, MMPI ALEXITHYMIA SCORES AND INJURY SEVERITY

| VARIABLE | ALL SUBJECTS | MALES | FEMALES | |
|---------------------|--------------|-------|---------|--|
| No. of surgeries | .07 | .10 | 11 | |
| Time in clinic | 03 | 07 | .17 | |
| Wage loss | 19 | 27* | .25 | |
| No. of doctors seen | .20 | .17 | .55* | |
| Alexithymia | 05 | 11 | .28 | |
| , h | | | | |

* .10>P>.05

Table 6

CORRELATIONS BETWEEN RECOVERY VARIABLES, MMPI ALEXITHYMIA SCORES AND K-SCALE SCORES

| VARIABLE | ALL SUBJECTS | MALES | FEMALES |
|--------------------|--------------|------------|---------|
| No. of surgeries | .11 | .10 | .14 |
| Time in clinic | .07 | 09 | .33 |
| Wage loss | .30** | .28* | .32 |
| No.of doctors seen | .10 | 03 | .47 |
| Severity | .03 | .01 | .04 |
| Alexithymia | .65*** | .69*** | .60** |

* .10>P>.05 ** P<.05 *** P<.01 **** P<.001

Recovery variables and alexithymia

Wage loss and alexithymia

It was hypothesized that high alexithymia scores would be associated with longer periods of wage loss benefit payment than low alexithymia scores. For all <u>Ss</u> combined, the correlation between the length of the wage loss period and alexithymia scores approached significance (r=.28, .10>p>.05), indicating that there was a tendency for high alexithymia scores to be associated with a longer wage loss period. For male <u>Ss</u> the correlation between wage loss and alexithymia was not significant although it was in the same direction. For female <u>Ss</u> this correlation was significant (r=.57, p<.05) indicating that high alexithymia scores were associated with a longer wage loss period for females.

Length of WCB clinic treatment and alexithymia

It was hypothesized that high alexithymia scores would be associated with longer lengths of clinic treatment than low alexithymia scores. For all \underline{s} , the correlation between length of clinic treatment and alexithymia scores was significant (r=.29, p<.05) indicating that longer clinic treatment periods

were associated with higher alexithymia scores. This relationship was significant with females (r=.63, p<.05), but not with males.

Number of doctors seen and alexithymia

It was hypothesized that high alexithymia scores would be associated with a greater number of different types of doctors seen than low alexithymia scores. With females the correlation between the number of doctors seen and alexithymia scores was significant (r=.64, p<.05), but not with males and all Ss combined.

Number of surgeries performed and alexithymia

An interesting post-hoc finding was that with all \underline{ss} combined the correlation between the number of surgeries performed and alexithymia scores was significant (r=.28, p<.05). With males this correlation approached significance (r=.29, .10>p>.05), while with females it did not approach significance.

Other relationships of interest

Wage loss and the K-scale

With all \underline{Ss} there was a significant correlation between K-scale scores and length of wage loss period (r=.30, p<.05)

indicating that high K-scale scores were associated with a longer wage loss period. This correlation did not approach significance for males or females alone. To determine whether the relationship between alexithymia scores and length of wage loss period was influenced by the effects of K-scale scores, a partial correlation was computed between alexithymia and wage loss, controlling for the effects of K-scale scores. For all \$5,\$ the correlation between alexithymia and wage loss was .30 (p<.05). For females the correlation was .50 (p<.01) and for males the correlation was -.04 (non-significant). Thus, for females, with the effects of K-scale scores removed, there is a significant positive correlation between alexithymia scores and length of time receiving wage loss benefits.

Injury-assessment interval and wage loss

There was a significant correlation between the injury-assessment interval and wage loss for all $\frac{5}{5}$ (r=.52, p<.001), males (r=.50, p<.01), and females (r=.59, p<.05) indicating that the longer it took for a claimant to be assessed by a psychologist, the longer wage loss benefits were paid.

Alexithymia and the MMPI Validity and Clinical Scales

No formal hypotheses were made concerning the relationships between alexithymia scores and MMPI yalidity and clinical scale scores.

The validity scale configuration

The mean validity configuration obtained by all <u>\$s</u> had a moderate elevation on the F scale relative to the L and K scales. The validity scale scores were not in the clinically significant range (see table 2).

The L-scale and alexithymia

with all <u>Ss</u> combined, the correlation between L-scale scores and alexithymia scores was significant (r=.52, p<.001) indicating that high L-scale scores were associated with high alexithymia scores. This relationship was significant for males (r=.55, p<.001), and approached significance for females (r=.50, .10>p>.05).

The F-scale and alexithymia

With all Ss combined the correlation between P-scale scores and alexithymia scores was negative and significant (r = -.48, p<.001) indicating that low P-scale scores were associated with

high alexithymia scores. This relationship was stronger for males (r = -.63, p < .05) than females (r = -.49, p < .01).

The K-scale and alexithymia

With all <u>Ss</u> combined the correlation between K-scale scores and alexithymia scores was significant (r=.65, p<.001) indicating that high K-scale scores were associated with high alexithymia scores. This relationship was stronger for males (r=.69, p<.001) than for females (r=.60, p<.05).

The clinical scale configuration

The clinical scale configuration obtained by all Ss was a 1-2-3 profile, with the highest elevations found on the Hs, D, and Hy scales (see table 2).

The hysteria scale and alexithymia

With male \underline{Ss} , the correlation between hysteria scores and alexithymia scores was significant (r=.33, p<.05) indicating that, for males, high hysteria scores were associated with high alexithymia scores. With all \underline{Ss} combined this correlation approached significance (r=.25, .10>p>.05) but with females it did not approach significance (r= -.04).

The psychasthenia scale and alexithymia

with all 5s the correlation between psychasthenia scores and alexithymia scores was negative and significant (r = -.32, p < .05) indicating that high alexithymia scores were associated with low psychasthenia scores. This correlation was significant with males (r = -.34, p < .05) but not with females (r = -.36).

The schizophrenia scale and alexithymia

With all $\S s$ there was a significant negative correlation between alexithymia scores and schizophrenia scores (r = -.29, p<.05) indicating that high alexithymia scores were associated with low schizophrenia scores. This correlation did not approach significance for males (r = -.23) or females (r = -.48) alone.

The mania scale and alexithymia

with all \underline{SS} there was a significant negative correlation between mania scores and alexithymia scores (r=-..30, p<.05) indicating that high alexithymia scores were associated with low mania scores. This correlation did not approach significance with males (r=-.25) or females (r=-.51) alone.

The social-introversion scale and alexithymia

For all <u>Ss</u>, there was a significant negative correlation between social-introversion scores and alexithymia scores (r=-.42, p <.01) indicating that low social-introversion scores

were associated with high alexithymia scores. This correlation was significant for males (r = -.43, p < .01) but not for females (r = -.45).

The ego strength scale and alexithymia

With all \S_S there was a significant correlation between eqostrength scores and alexithymia scores (r=.48. p<.001) indicating that high alexithymia scores were associated with high eqo strength scores. This correlation was significant for males (r=.48, p<.01) but not for females (r=.45).

Item Overlap

To determine whether the correlations between alexithymia and the MMPI subscales could have been due to item overlap between the scales, the items of the alexithymia scale were compared with those of each of the MMPI scales. There was no overlap with the L and F scales. Two K-scale items overlapped in the same direction. One hysteria item overlapped negatively. Two psychasthenia items overlapped negatively. Three schizophrenia items overlapped: two positively, and one negatively. Two mania items overlapped negatively. Two social introversion items overlapped: one positively and one negatively. Three ego strength items overlapped negatively.

Given that there is little overlap of items, the correlations between alexithymia and the MMPI subscales do not

appear to be due to item overlap between the scales.

Demographic variables and alexithrela

Age and alexithymia

With all \S s there was a significant correlation between age and alexithymia (r=.44, p<.001) indicating that older \S s had higher alexithymia scores than younger \S s. This correlation was significant for males (r=.49, p<.01) but not for females.

Sex and alexithymia

The correlation between sex and alexithymia did not approach significance. This is due to the fact that alexithymia scores did not vary significantly with regard to sex.

Marital status and alexithymia

with all <u>Ss</u> there was a significant correlation between marital status and alexithymia (r=.47, p<.001) indicating that married <u>Ss</u> had higher alexithymia scores than single <u>\$s</u>. This correlation was significant for both males (r=.40, p<.05) and females (r=.66, p<.05). Kleiger and Jones (1980) found that, when age was controlled for, the relationship they found between marital status and age was not significant. To determine whether the relationship between marital status and alexithymia was due to the effects of age, a partial correlation was computed,

controlling for age. For all \underline{SS} the partial correlation between marital status and alexithymia was .33 (p<.05). For males the correlation was .50 (p<.01), and for females it was .64 (p<.05). Thus, for all \underline{SS} , with the effects of age removed, being married was strongly associated with the presence of alexithymic characteristics.

IV. Discussion

Hage Loss and alexithymia

It was hypothesized that alexithymia scores would be correlated with length of wage loss period. Support for this hypothesis was found with all Ss combined and with females, but not with males, indicating that workers' compensation claimants, especially females, with alexithymic characteristics take longer to recover from their injuries than those without alexithymic characteristics. Alexithymia scores and length of wage loss period were not correlated with an index of injury severity, and thus the presence of alexithymic characteristics may extend the length of recovery time more than the severity of the injury received.

A very strong correlation was found between the injury-assessment interval and wage loss. It appears that psychological assessment, and whatever treatment is implemented as a result, may be more important in determining length of recovery than injury severity, the presence of alexithymic characterisites, or K-scale scores.

The stronger relationship between alexithymia and wage loss with females compared to males is consistent with studies reporting sex differences in the relationship between alexithymia and physical symptoms. Cooper and Holmstrom (1984),

using the MMPI alexithymia scale and the Cornell Medical Index with a normal college sample, found a positive relationship between alexithymia and somatic complaints for females only.

Cole (1982) found that females with psychosomatic disorders had significantly higher alexithymia scores than females without psychosomatic disorders. The opposite relationship was found with males: males with psychosomatic disorders had significantly lower alexithymia scores than males without psychosomatic disorders. He suggested that this may be due to a tendency for symptomatic males to deny having alexithymic characteristics, while symptomatic females may be more aware and/or truthful about their alexithymic characteristics. Apfel (1982), however, suggested that women, given their apparently greater autonomic expressiveness, might be expected to manifest an alexithymic.

Other studies have failed to find a relationship between alexithymic characteristics and physical symptoms with male \$\frac{Ss}{s}\$. Greenberg and Dattore (1983) tested the hypothesis that alexithymic characteristics lead to psychosomatic disorders. They compared the premorbid MMPI alexithymia scores of groups of men who did not develop physical illnesses, psychosomatic diseases, or psychiatric disorders within a ten year period with a group that did develop these conditions. They found no support for their hypothesis, and in fact found that the healthy control group had the highest percentage of alexithymic subjects.

These studies suggest that the measurement of alexithymia with a self-report inventory such as the MMPI alexithymia scale or the SSPS may be invalid, given the role that denial of symptoms may play, especially with males. More accurate assessment of the alexithymic characteristics of males could result from the use of the BIQ alexithymia questionnaire.

Length of clinic treatment, number of doctors seen, number of surgeries performed, and alexithymia

The hypothesis that alexithymia would be related to clinic treatment length was supported by the results of this study, but only with females. That alexithymia correlated significantly with clinic treatment length corroborates findings by Kleiger and Jones (1980) that alexithymic chronic repiratory illness patients averaged over twice as many days rehospitalized than did non-alexithymic patients. They found that differences in hospitalization could not be accounted for by differences in the objective assessment of illness severity. The present finding that injury severity was unrelated to length of clinic treatment is consistent with this finding, as well as those by Kleiger and Dirks (1980) and Dirks et al., (1981). The results of this study give more support for the hypothesis that medical patients with alexithymic characterisics spend more time being treated in the hospital than those without alexithymic characteristics.

The finding that, for females, there was a significant correlation between number of doctors seen and alexithymia may indicate that female alexithymic patients are sent from doctor to doctor to try and find an organic explanation for their prolonged recovery.

An interesting post-hoc finding was that, for all Ss, alexithymia was correlated significantly with the number of surgeries performed. Thus, alexithymics had more surgeries than non-alexithymics. Number of surgeries was independent of injury severity. Perhaps the alexithymic elicits the physician's orientation of looking for organic pathology, possibly resulting in unnecessary surgeries.

Sample Size Criticisms

One could criticize the generalizability of the findings of this study given the small sample of females used. However, significant results using a small sample may be indicative of the existence of a strong relationship according to Bakan (1967):

...rejecting the null hypothesis with a small N is indicative of a strong deviation from null in the population, the mathematics of the test of significance having already taken into account the smallness of the sample. Increasing the N increases the probability of rejecting the null hypothesis. (p. 16)

Thus, the sex differences found may be a true reflection of the relationship between alexithymia and recovery variables.

The possible explanations for the sex differences in the relationship between alexithymia and recovery variables used in this study need to be addressed.

The prevalence rates of clinically significant alexithymia were 35% for males and 33% for females in this study, whereas in a normal population (with alexithymia being measured with the SSPS) the percentages are 8.2% for males and 1.8% for females. (Blanchard, Arean, & Pallmeyer, 1981). Although age differences. may play a role in the prevalence of alexithymia, the present findings indicate either that secondary alexithymia is manifested equally among males and females, or that the use of the MMPI alexithymia scale is invalid with males. Hale alexithymia scores are close to one standard deviation lower than those of females. The smaller variability of male scores may indicate that they underestimate the degree of their alexithymic characteristics. The direction and magnitude of the correlations between alexithymia and the validity scales for males and females, though, are very similar, and thus, this explanation may be untenable. The use of the BIQ may provide a more valid estimate of the prevalence and degree of alexithymia among males, which may in turn yield a relationship between alexithymia and recovery variables with males.

The relationship between alexithymia and recovery variables among the females in this study may be explained from a socio-cultural perspective. Armitage, Schneiderman, and Bass (1979) studied the response of male physicians to medical

extensive workup for their complaints than women. They found that this was most significant for low back pain and headache complaints. After controlling for sex related complaints, they found no sex differences in the kind of complaints that men and women presented with. Armitage et al., (1979) suggest that their results may indicate that physicians

...tend to take illness more seriously in men than in women. In doing so, they might be responding to current stereotypes that regard the male as typically stoic and the female as typically hypochondriacal. (p.2187)

The findings of the present study may suggest that when a female patient presents herself to a physician, he takes her complaints more seriously than he would a non-alexithymic female. This may be due to her presenting with the stoicism that is characteristically thought to be a male characteristic. This may, to the physician, suggest the existence of a more serious injury requiring more extensive treatment. Thus, sex role stereotyping by physicians may be responsible for the sex differences found in this study between alexithymia and recovery variables.

Another possible explanation may come from research on cerebral lateralization. Research on the lateralization of conversion disorders (Galin et al., 1977; Ley, 1980) indicates that the preponderance of left sided symptoms (indicating right hemisphere involvement) is significant for females only. In a biofeedback study, in which the lateralization patterns of males and females were measured using right/left EEG alpha ratios,

Davidson and Schwartz (1976) found that all the females they tested showed right hemisphere activation in anger and relaxation conditions, while only 42% of the males tested showed this pattern of activation. They hypothesized that males process affect in the context of an analytic, propositional framework, while females may process affect in a more global and gestalt-like manner.

Cole (1982) found that there was a significant positive correlation between CLEM and alexithymia scores for females only, indicating that females exhibiting right hemisphericity reported more alexithymic characteristics than females exhibiting left hemisphericity. A similar relationship was found with males though it did not reach significance.

The right hemisphere-conversion-emotion-alexithymia pattern found among females, and the lack of one with males may be indicative of sex differences in the lateralization of emotional functions, and the functions associated with alexithymic characteristics. The assessment of the neuropsychological functioning of male and female alexithymics (using the BIQ to avoid the role that denial may play in the reporting of alexithymic characterisics on self-report measures) and normals, may reveal sex differences in psychological deficits associated with alexithymia.

If psychological deficits were found among male and/or female alexithymics the question of whether they are functional or structural may not be answerable with existing

neuropsychological assessment methods. This is an important distinction to be made given the implications it would have for treatment. If the deficit was caused by a psychogenic disturbance of function, then supportive and behavior therapy may facilitate a return of these functions by helping the patient cope with the stress associated with trauma. If alexithymia is due to structural deficits, then the rehabilitative model, emphasizing:

assessment of the to-be-remediated skill, selecting tasks appropriate for training in that skill, analysis of those tasks in terms of performance of daily and non-daily activitites, and seeking neurological correlates...(Goldstien and Ruthven, 1983)

may be more appropriate. Clinical trials of these treatment modalities with alexithymics may help answer the structural (primary) versus functional (secondary) alexithymia question.

Prevalence of alexithymia

The finding that 35% of pain patients in this study were clinically alexithymic is a prevalence rate lower than that found with chronic pain patients. Mendelson (1982) found that, in a sample of 60 chronic pain patients, 28 (47%) obtained MMPI alexithymia scores in the clinically significant range. Given that the average interval between injury and assessment in this sample was 19.24 weeks, the subjects in this study could be considered to be more at the acute end of the acute-chronic distinction and thus the higher prevalence of alexithymia in

Mendelson's (1982) sample may be a reflection of the chronicity of his sample.

Demers-Descosiers (1983) in a study of 30 pain patients (no acute-chronic distinction was made), found, using the BIO, that 67% of their subjects were alexithymic while 28% were alexithymic using the MMPI scale. MMPI scores and BIO scores did not correlate in their study.

Given the high prevalence of alexithymic characteristics among pain patients, it is a variable worthy of investigation in their assessment and treatment.

Alexithymia and demographic variables

Age and alexithymia

The significant correlation between age and alexithymia indicates that older <u>Ss</u> had more alexithymic characterisitcs than younger <u>Ss</u>. This finding is consistent with those by Sifneos (1973) and Kleiger and Jones (1980) who found that older <u>Ss</u> were rated as being more highly alexithymic than younger <u>Ss</u> using the BIQ. Kleiger and Jones (1980) suggest that

... the strong relationship between age and alexithymia makes sense in light of the physical changes and accompanying defensive processes which are often associated with aging. (p.469)

Other researchers (Lolas & de la Parra, 1980; Pierloot & Vinck, 1979) who looked at the relationship between age and alexithymia

did not find any age related differences in alexithymia scores. With a large sample (N=476) of asthma patients ranging in age from 14 to 76 years, Peiguine, Hulihan, and Kinsman (1982) found a higher incidence of alexithymia among the upper age ranges (middle and late adulthood) than in adolescence and early adulthood. They suggest that aging may be associated with a deterioration of brain structures that mediate the cognitive and emotional processes involved in alexithymia.

The relationship between age and alexithymia warrants further research given that alexithymia may reflect aging processes, and a poorer response to treatment.

Marital status and alexithymia

The significant correlation between marital status and alexithymic indicates that married Ss had more alexithymic characteristics than single Ss. This is consistent with findings by Kleiger and Jones (1980) that married chronic repiratory illness patients were more alexithymic than non-married patients. They found, however, that, when age was controlled for, this relationship was not significant. Smith (1983) found no relationship between marital status and alexithymia in a sample of medical patients. In the present study, even with the effects of age controlled for, the relationship between marital status and alexithymia was significant. This may indicate that a married person suffering from an injury may report more

difficulty expressing their emotions verbally than a single person because they are in a situation (i.e. married life as opposed to single life) where interpersonal conflict is more likely to occur.

The BBPI and Alexithymia

Reference was made to Dahlstrom, Welsh, and Dahlstrom (1972), Graham (1978), and Lachar (1974) for interpretation of the MMPI validity and clinical scale configurations, and the scale score elevations associated with alexithymia.

Validity scale configuration

The mean validity configuration of ained by all so had a moderate elevation on the F scale relative to the L and K scales. This configuration indicates that the so in this sample may be described as similar to people that have been described as having independence of thought and negativeness, and as being unconventional, moody, changeable, disatisfied, and opinionated. This configuration has also been found among those with character disorders, and those with problems in social situations.

The L-scale and alexithymia

The significant correlation between L-scale and alexithymia scores indicates that <u>Ss</u> with alexithymic characteristics tended to try and create a favourable impression by not being honest in responding to items. Other personality characteristics of people with high L-scale scores are: conventionality, rigidity, moralistic, and lacking in insight. This is consistent with findings by Kleiger and Jones (1980), and Shipko and Noviello (1984). Shipko'and Noviello (1984) found a significant positive correlation between MMPI alexithymia and L-scale scores in a normal sample of undergraduates. Kleiger and Jones (1980) found that chronic respiratory illness patients with high BIQ alexithymia scores also scored high on the L-scale of the MMPI. They suggested that this finding may be associated with denial of impulses and "pseudo-normality". Pseudo-normality has been described by Jackson (1977) in ulcerative colitis patients and in psychoanalytic terms by McDougall (1974):

Instead of some form of psychic management of disturbing affects or unwelcome knowledge or fantasies, the ego may achieve complete destruction of the representations or feelings concerned, so that these are not registered. The result then may be a super-adaptation to external reality, a robot-like adjustment to inner and outer pressure which short circuits the world of the imaginary. This pseudo-normality is a widespread character trait and may well be a danger sign pointing to the eventuality of psychosomatic symptoms. (p. 444)

AcDougall (1974) also suggests that pseudo-normality is a form of numbness created to block pain by ignoring the body's signs and the mind's distress signals. Thus alexithymic patients may present themselves to health practitioners as being "super adjusted to reality", a possible sign that the defense mechanism of denial may be being strongly used, or that pseudo-normality is a behavioral manifestation of a cerebral deficit. Thus, signs of pseudo-normality may necessitate the practitioner take a more vigilant approach in their assessment of alexithymics.

The F-scale and alexithymia

The significant negative correlation between F-scale scores and alexithymia scores is consistent with the relationship between L-scale and alexithymia scores. People with low F-scale scores have been found to be socially conforming, free of disabling psychopathology, and tend to try and create a favourable impression. This relationship was stronger for females than males and may indicate that female alexithymics tended to try and make a favourable impression more than male alexithymics.

The K-scale and alexithymia

The significant correlation between K-scale and alexithymia scores indicates that alexithymia was associated with characteristics of defensiveness, inhibition, intolerance, and a lack of insight or psychological mindedness. This finding corroborates the finding by Shipko and Noviello (1984) that K-scale scores were positively correlated with MMPI alexithymia scores.

The relationships between alexithymia scores and L, F, and K scores may indicate some of the reasons (i.e. defensiveness, lack of psychological mindedness, pseudonormality) why alexithymics appear to have a "severe impairment to utilize psychodynamic psychotherapy" (Krystal, 1979, p.29).

The MMPI Clinical Scales and Alexithymia

Clinical scale configuration

A 1-2-3 clinical scale configuration was obtained by all Ss. This profile type is thought to reflect somatization, anxiety, and the appearance of physiological symptoms instead of affective signs. The use of repression is suggested, with the patient characteristically exhibiting a lack of insight and self understanding.

The significant correlation between hysteria and alexithymia scores, for males only, suggests that alexithymic males may tend to have symptoms with a functional origin, and that they may tend to be lacking in insight, self-centered, and socially involved. This is the first report of a relationship between alexithymia and hysteria. According to Nemiah (1973), individuals with hysterical personalities can be differentiated from alexithymics on the basis that the absence of affect and fantasy in the hysteric is limited to the area of psychological conflict, while the alexithymic exhibits a more global absence of affect and fantasy.

Psychasthenia and alexithymia

The significant negative correlation between psychasthenia scores and alexithymic seconds indicates that alexithymic seconds, and male alexithymic seconds in particular, tended to be relatively free of disabling fears and to be self-confident. This finding is consistent with Kleiger and Jones (1980) who found a significant negative correlation between BIQ alexithymia scores and psychasthenia scores. They suggested that this was "possibly related to their diminished capacity to experience anxiety on a conscious feeling level" (p.469).

The significant negative correlation found between alexithymia and schizophrenia scores is consistent with findings by Shipko and Noviello (1984) and indicates that people with alexithymic characteristics may tend to be unimaginative, conventional, and may avoid deep emotional involvement. This finding gives some support to Nemiah's (1975) hypothesis that alexithymia represents the "obverse of schizophrenia", and warrants further testing of this interesting hypothesis.

The Mania scale and alexithymia

The significant negative correlation between mania and alexithymia scores for all <u>Ss</u> is consistent with findings by <u>Shipko and Noviello (1984) and indicates that people with</u> alexithymic characterisitcs may tend to be over-controlled, conventional, responsible, apathetic, and may tend to have a low energy level. This finding has not been reported elsewhere in the literature, although it appears consistent with the clinical features of alexithymia.

The Social Introversion scale and alexithymia

The significant negative correlation between alexithymia and social-introversion scores suggests that <u>Ss</u> with alexithymic characteristics in this sample had a tendency to be socially

extroverted, active, and impulsive. This is consistent with the observation that alexithymics tend to take action impulsively to the extent that it is a predominant way of life (Apfel and Sifneos, 1979; Sifneos et al., 1977). These findings are inconsistent with those of Fava et al., (1980) who found that there was a significant positive correlation between alexithymia (as measured by the SSPS) and introversion as measured by the Maudsley Personality Inventory, and with those of Kleiger and Jones (1980) who found no relationship between social introversion scores and alexithymia in patients with respiratory disease. The relationship between alexithymia and extroversion warrants further research given that extroversion is thought to be associated with cortical inhibition (Eysenck, 1981). Perhaps alexithymia and extroversion are related syndromes with a similar neuropsychological etiologies.

The Ego Strength Scale and alexithymia

The significant positive correlation between alexithymia and the eqo strength scale appears to be inconsistent with the suggestion that psychoanalytic psychotherapy is of little benefit to alexithymics (Krystal, 1979). Barron (1953) originally constructed the scale to predict response to psychotherapy. The two predominant pre-therapy characteristics of patients who were found to improve in therapy are: (1) good physical functioning, and (2) spontenaity and an ability to

share emotional experiences. The unimproved group: (1) had many and chronic physical ailments, and (2) were broody, inhibited, worrisome, and had a strong need for emotional seclusion. Given that the sample used in the present study was made up of people with physical injuries and that an inability to express emotions verbally is the most salient characteristic of alexithymia, one would expect alexithymia scores to correlate negatively with ego strength scores. The relationship may be a result of a style of responding characteristic of defensiveness and pseudonormality. Ego strength scores correlated with the validity scale scores in a pattern similar to the way that alexithymia scores correlated with the validity scores. With all 5s ego strength scores correlated significantly with L scale scores (r=.42, p.<.01), F scale scores (r = -.58, p, <.001), and K scale scores (r = .56, p. <.001). A similar pattern with correlations of similar magnitude was found for makes and females. Thus, the positive significant correlation between alexithymia and ego strength may be due to the response style of the alexithymic.

The correlations between alexithymia and the MNPI clinical scales for female <u>Ss</u> were not significant, although compared to the correlations found with male <u>Ss</u>, they were of similar magnitude. The lack of significance may be due to the small sample of females used.

Many of the relationships found between alexithymia and the MMPI validity and clinical scales add to the construct validity

of the concept of alexithymia given that they are generally consistent with characteristics thought to be alexithymic. The creation of an MMPI alexithymia scale standardized with pain patients may yield a useful measure for the assessment of pain patients.

V. Conclusions

With the females examined in this study, significant relationships were found between alexithymia and a number of recovery variables: length of wage loss period, length of clinic treatment, and number of different types of doctors seen. With all subjects there was also a significant relationship between alexithymia scores, length of clinic treatment, and number of surgeries performed. That these findings were independent of injury severity suggests that alexithymia may be a more important variable affecting a claimant's response to treatment than the severity of their injury.

A causal relationship between alexithymia and recovery variables cannot be inferred given that it cannot be determined whether alexithymic characteristics lead to a poorer response to treatment or whether a long recovery period leads to the development of alexithymic characteristics. Despite this problem, the findings of this study suggest that claimants with alexithymic characteristics may receive more treatment from the medical profession than necessary. Perhaps earlier psychological intervention with an emphasis on the assessment and treatment of claimants' alexithymic characteristics would lead to a better response to treatment.

REFERENCES

- Apfel, J. (1982). Are women sicker than men? An overview of psychosomatic problems in women. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, <u>37</u>, 106-118.
- Apfel, J. & Sifneos, P. (1979). Alexithymia: concept and measurement. Psychotherapy and psychosomatics. 32, 180-190.
- Armitage, K., Schneiderman, L., & Bass, R. (1979). Response of physicians to medical complaints in men and women. <u>Journal of the American Medical Association</u>, <u>241</u>, 2186-2187.
- Bakan, D. (1967). On method: toward a reconstruction of psychological investigation. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Bakan, P. (1969). Hypnotizability, laterality of eye movements, and functional brain asymmetry. <u>Perceptual and notor Skills</u>, 28, 927-932.
- Bakan, P. (1971). The eyes have it. Psychology Today, 4, 64-69.
- Barron, P. (1953). An ego strength scale which predicts response to psychotherapy. <u>Journal of Consulting Psychology</u>, <u>17</u>, 327-333.
- Blanchard, E., Arean, J., & Pallmeyer, T. (1981). Psychometric properties of a scale to measure alexithymia. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, 35, 65-71.
- Blumer, D., & Heilbronn, M. (1982). Chronic pain as a variant of depressive disease. <u>Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease</u>, 170, 381-406.
- Blumetti, A. & Modesti, L. (1976). Psychological predictors of sucess or failure of surgical intervention for intractable back pain. In J.J. Bonica & D. AlbeFessard (Eds.), Advances in pain research and therapy, (Vol.1). New York: Raven Press.
- Bogen, J.E. (1969). The other side of the brain II: an oppositional mind. <u>Bulletin of the Los Angeles Medrological Societies</u>, <u>34</u>, 135-162.
- Borens, R., Grosse-Schultz, E., Jaensch, W., & Kortemme, K.H. (1977). Is "alexithymia" but a social phenomenon? <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, 28, 193-198.
- Buchanan, D., Waterhouse, G., & West, S. (1980). A proposed neuropsychological basis of alexithymia. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, <u>34</u>, 248-255.

- Cole, G. (1982). Conjugate lateral eye movements, alexithymia, anxiety, autonomic nervous system balance, and body consciousness. Unpublished Honours B.A. Thesis, Simon Fraser University.
- Cooper, D.E. & Holmstrom, R.W. (1984). Relationship between alexithymia and somatic complaints in a normal sample. Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 41, 20-24.
- Dahlstrom, W., Welsh, G., & Dahlstrom, L. (1972). An MIPI handbook. Vol.1: Clinical Interpretations. University of Minnesota Press.
- Defourney, M., Hubin, P., & Luminet, D. (1976/77). Alexithymia, "pensee operatoire", and predisposition to coronopathy.

 <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, <u>27</u>, 106-114.
- Demers-Desrosiers, L., Cohen, K.R., Catchlove, R.F.H., & Ramsay, R.A. (1983). The measure of symbolic function in alexithymic pain patients. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, 39, 65-76.
- Dirks, J.F. (1978). The psychomaintenance of bronchial asthma: a review and preliminary theoretical integration of panic-fear research in asthma. Report No. 54, Psychophysiology Research Laboratories, National Jewish Hospital/National Asthma Center, Denver, Colorado.
- Doody, K.F. & Taylor, G. (1981). Construct validation of the MMPI alexithymia scale. <u>Sixth World Congress of the International College of Psychosomatic Medicine</u>, Montreal.
- Eysenck, H. (1981). Personality and psychosomatic diseases.

 Activitas Nervosa Superior. 23, 112-129.
- Fava, G. & Pavan, L. (1976/1977). Large bowel disorders: psychopathology and alexithymia. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, 27, 100-105.
- Federman, R. & Mohns, R. (1984). A validity study of the MMPI alexithymia subscale conducted on migraine headache outpatients. Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 41, 29-32.
- Feiguine, R.J., Hulihan, D.M., & Kinsman, R.A. (1982).
 Alexithymic asthmatics: Age and alexithymia across the life span. Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 37, 185-188.
- Flannery, J. (1977). Alexithymia I. The communication of physical symptoms. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, 28, 133-140.
- Flannery, J. & Taylor, G. (1981). Toward integrating psyche and soma: psychoanalysis and neurobiology. <u>Canadian Journal of Psychiatry</u>. 26, 15-23.

- Frankel, F., Apfel-Savitz, R., Nemiah, J. & Sifneos, P. (1977).

 The relationship between hypnotizability and alexithymia.

 Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 28, 172-178.
- Freyberger, H. (1977). Supportive psychotherapeutic techniques in primary and secondary alexithymia. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>. 28, 337-342.
- Fromm, G.H. (1984). Problems in clinical pain evaluation. Archives of Neurology, 41, 593.
- Gage, B.C. & Egan, K.J. (1984). The effect of alexithymia on morbidity in hypertensives. <u>Psychotherapy</u> and <u>Psychosomatics</u>, <u>41</u>, 136-144.
- Galin, D., Damond, R., & Braff, D. Lateralization of conversion symptoms: More frequent on the left. (1977). **Imerican Journal of Psychiatry, 134, 578-580.
- Gentry, W., Shoers, W., & Thomas, M. (1974). Chronic low back pain: A psychological profile. <u>Psychosomatics</u>, <u>15</u>, 174-177.
- Goldstein, G., & Ruthven, L. (1983). <u>Rehabilitation of the brain damaged adult</u>. New York: Plenum Press.
- Graham, J.R. (1978). The Minnesota Multiphasic Personality
 Inventory (MMPI). In B.B. Wolman (Ed.) Clinical Diagnosis of
 Mental Disorders: A Handbook, New York: Plenum Press.
- Gur, R. & Gur, R.C. (1975). Defense mechanisms, psychosomatic symptomatology and conjugate lateral eye movements. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 43, 416-420.
- Hall, W., Hayward, L., & Chapman, C.R. (1981). On "the lateralization of pain". Pain, 10, 337-351.
- Heiberg, A. (1980). Alexithymic characteristics and somatic illness. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, 34, 261-266.
- Heiberg, A. & Heiberg, A. (1977). Alexithymia: an inherited trait? Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 28, 221-225.
- Heiberg, A. & Heiberg, A. (1978). A possible genetic contribution to the alexithymia trait. Psychotheraps and Psychosomatics, 30, 205-210.
- Hoppe, K. & Bogen, J. (1977). Alexithymia in twelve commissurotomized patients. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, 38, 148-155.

- Jackson, M. (1977). Psychopathology and 'pseudo-normality' in ulcerative colitis. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, <u>28</u>, 179-186.
- Kaplan, C. & Wogan, M. (1976/77). Management of pain through cerebral activation: An experimental analogue of alexithymia. Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 27, 144-153.
- Keltikangas-Jarvinen, L. (1982). Alexithymia in violent offenders. <u>Journal of Personality Assessment</u>, 46, 462-465.
- Kleiger, J. & Dirks, J. (1980). Psychomaintenance aspects of alexithymia: Relationship to medical outcome variables in a chronic respiratory illness population. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, 34, 25-33.
- Kleiger, J. & Jones, N. (1980). Characteristics of alexithymic patients in a chronic respiratory illness population.

 <u>Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease</u>, 168, 465-470.
- Kleiger, J. & Kinsman, R. (1980). The development of an MMPI alexithymia scale. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>. 34, 17-24.
- Krystal, H. (1979). Alexithymia and psychotherapy. <u>American</u>
 <u>Journal of Psychotherapy</u>, 33, 17-31.
- Krystal, H. (1982). Alexithymia and the effectiveness of psychoanalytic treatment. <u>International Journal of Psychoanalytic Psychotherapy</u>, 9, 353-378.
- Lachar, D. (1974). The MMPI: clipical assessment and automated interpretation. Los Angeles: Western Psychological Services.
- Lesser, I.M., Ford, C.V., & Rriedman, C.T.H. (1979). Alexithymia in somatizing patients. General Hospital Psychiatry, 1, 256-261.
- Lesser, I. & Lesser, B. (1983). Alexithymia: Examining the development of a psychological concept. American Journal of Psychiatry, 140, 1305-1308.
- Ley, R.G. (1980). An archival examination of an asymmetry of hysterical conversion symptoms. <u>Journal of Clinical</u>
 <u>Neuropsychology</u>, 2, 61-70...
- Ley, R.G. (1983). Cerebral laterality and imagery. In: A.A. Sheikh (Ed.), <u>Imagery: Theory</u>, <u>Research</u>, and <u>Current Application</u>, Wiley and Sons, New York.
- Lolas, F., Parra, de la, Aronson, S., & Collin, C. (1980). On the measurement of alexithymic behavior. Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 33, 139-146.

- McCrae, R. & Costa, P. (1983). Social desireability scales: more substance than style. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 51, 882-888.
- McDougall, J. (1974). The psychosoma and the psychoanalytic process. <u>International Review of Psychoanalysis</u>, 1, 437-459.
- McDougall, J. (1982). Alexithymia: a psychoanalytic viewpoint.

 Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 38, 81-90.
- Marty, P. & M'Uzan, M. (1963). La pensee operatoire. Revue Français Psychoanalysis, 27, 1345.
- Mendelson, G. (1982). Alexithymia and chronic pain: prevalence, correlates, and treatment results. Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 37, 154-164.
- Merskey, H., & Watson, G. (1979). The lateralisation of pain. Pain, 7, 271-280.
- Wemiah, J. (1972). Emotions and physiology: an introduction. Ciba Foundation Symposium, 8, 15-29.
- Nemiah, J. (1975). Denial revisited: reflections on psychosomatic theory. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, 26, 140-147.
- Nemiah, J. (1977). Alexithymia: Theoretical Considerations. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, <u>28</u>, 199-206.
- Nemiah, J. (1978). Alexithymia and psychosomatic illness.

 Journal of Continuing Education in Psychiatry, 39, 25-37.
- Nemiah, J., Freyberger, H., & Sifneos, P. (1976). Alexithymia: a view of the psychosomatic process, Hill, O. (ed.), <u>Modern</u>
 <u>Trends in Psychosomatic Medicine</u>, Vol. 3, London:
 Butterworths.
- Pierloot, R., & Vinck, J. (1977). A pragmatic approach to the concept of alexithymia. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, 23, 156-166.
- Repko, G. & Cooper, R. (1983). A study of the average workers' compensation case. <u>Journal of Clinical Psychology</u>, <u>39</u>, 287-295.
- Schneider, P.B. (1977). The observer, the psychosomatic obehomenon, and the setting of the observation.

 Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 28, 36-46.
- Shipko, S. (1982). Alexithymia and somatization. <u>Psychotherapy</u> and <u>Psychosomatics</u>, <u>37</u>, 193-201.

- Shipko, S., Alvarez, W., & Noviello, N. (1983). Towards a teleological model of alexithymia: Alexithymia and post-traumatic stress disorder. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, 39, 122-126.
- Shipko, S. & Noviello, N. (1984). Psychometric proerties of self-report scales of alexithymia. Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 41, 85-90.
- Sifneos, P. (1973). The prevalence of "alexithymic" characteristics in psychosomatic patients. <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, 22, 255-262.
- Sifneos, P. (1975). Problems of psychotherapy of patients with alexithymic characteristics and physical disease.

 Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics. 26, 65-70.
- Sifneos, P. Apfel-Savitz, R., & Frankel, F. (1977). The phenomenon of "alexithymia." <u>Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics</u>, 28, 47-57.
- Smith, G.R. (1983): Alexithymia in medical patients referred to a consultation/liason service. kmerican Journal of Psychiatry, 140, 99-101.
- Sternbach, R., Wolf, S., Murphy, R., & Akeson, W. (1973) (a).
 Aspects of chronic low back pain. Psychosometics, 14, 52-56.
- Sternbach, R., Wolf, S., Murphy, R. & Akeson, W. (1973) (b).
 Traits of pain patients: The low back "loser".

 <u>Psychosomatics</u>, <u>14</u>, 226/229.
- Strassberg, D., Reimherr, F., Ward, H., Russell, S., & Cole, A. (1981). The MMPI and chronic pain. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 49, 220-226.
- Taylor, G. (1977). Alexithymia and countertransference.

 Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 28, 141-147.
- Taylor, G., Doody, K., & Newman, A. (1981). Alexithymic characteristics in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Canadian Journal of Psychlatry, 26, 470-474.
- Tucker, D. (1981). Lateral brain function, emotion, and conceptualization. Psychological Bulletin, 89, 19-46.
- Van Nuys, D.W. (1979-80). Lateral eye movements and dream recall. Journal of Altered States of Consciousness, 5, 147-152.
- Von Rad, M., Lolas, F. (1982). Empirical evidence of alexithy in a Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 38, 91-102.

wolff, H. (1977). The observer, the psychosomatic phenomenon, the contribution of the interview situation to the restriction of fantasy life and emotional experience in psychosomatic patients. Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, 28, 58-67.